








be responsible for a deficient contract under which numerous illegalities had occurred, nor did he
want to be in the position of having to make misrepresentations to DoS in order to keep the
contract afloat.

112. Before Mr. Hoffman returned to the U.S., Mr. Lemmon told Mr. Gordon that
Cornelius Medley would be taking over Mr. Gordon’s responsibility for the contract in the
United States and would be arriving in the U.S. from Kabul in a few days. Mr. Lemmon
informed Mr. Gordon that Mr. Du Plessis had demanded this arrangement, and that Mr. Hoffman
had acceded to this demand after Mr. Du Plessis informed him that Mr. Gordon had met with
DoS and had made other representations to DoS regarding serious problems with the contract.

113. By email dated February 19, 2008, Mr. Du Plessis wrote to Mr. Hoffman seeking
Mr. Gordon’s immediate replacement because of statements Mr. Gordon made to DoS. He
stated: “With your approval and in light of recent events, I wonder if we shouldn’t have
Cornelius’s transfer to McLean expedited to the earliest possible opportunity . . . we all agree
that this is probably the best course of action to mitigate damage at DoS given recent events. We
believe that certain comments from the RSO to you have been misrepresented to DoS by [Mr.
Gordon] which is cause for concern.”

114.  Faced with impending termination, on February 22, 2008, Mr. Gordon wrote a
detailed email to Mr. Hoffman, copied to Ms. Power and Mr. Schmitt, objecting to the turn of
events Mr. Du Plessis had orchestrated to have him removed the contract. Mr. Gordon reiterated
the significant issues that Mr. Du Plessis has created while in his role as the Program Manager,
including: “failure to account for stores and ammunitions correctly, improper procurement
processes, consistent failure to meet deliverable timelines, illegal weapons stored in Camp

Sullivan, staff members frequenting places where human trafficking has taken place, outbreaks
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of STDs within the work force, failure to follow the contract in recruiting additional TCNs in
Kabul and placing the company at risk of losing these workers as a result, causing disruption to
the contract ....” Mr. Gordon further emphasized that he had brought these complaints to Mr.
Hoffman’s attention repeatedly in the past and expressed his frustration that AGI’s improper
control and influence of the DoS contract had impaired his ability to manage the contract. Mr.
Gordon closed his correspondence by saying, “I think that we can still come together as a team
and move towards a better future for the company and all those who work here.”

115. Upon his return from Kabul, Mr. Hoffman convened a meeting to inform the
AGNA staff that Mr. Medley would be the “point of contact” for dealing with the Kabul
contract. Following this meeting, Mr. Gordon confronted Mr. Hoffman about the removal of his
responsibilities and Mr. Du Plessis’ allegation that Mr. Gordon had personally met with
representatives at DoS to report AGNA’s ongoing failures under the contract. Mr. Hoffman
credited reports from Mr. Du Plessis that Mr. Gordon had complained to DoS and for that reason
refused to restore Mr. Gordon’s duties and responsibilities for managing AGNA'’s contract with
DoS. The Kabul contract comprised at least 95% of Mr. Gordon’s work. As such, with Mr.
Medley’s assumption of those duties, Mr. Gordon was left with virtually no work and no
responsibilities.

116. In addition to stripping Mr. Gordon of his duties, AGNA set out to make Mr.
Gordon’s working conditions intolerable. Mr. Medley excluded Mr. Gordon from management
meetings, intimidated the rest of the staff by asking them if they supported Mr. Gordon or
himself, shunned him, and relegated him to a persona non grata in the office. Mr. Gordon
complained to Mr. Hoffman about Mr. Medley’s actions. Initially, Mr. Hoffman assured him

falsely that these issues would be dealt with. However, no corrective action was taken, despite
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Mr. Hoffman’s knowledge that Mr. Medley’s actions had created a humiliating and hostile work
environment for Mr. Gordon. In fact, Mr. Hoffman relegated Mr. Gordon to his office with
minimal contacts with any other senior management and regularly excluded him from his
meetings, all in an effort to force Mr. Gordon’s resignation. Mr. Medley made clear to Mr.
Gordon by his behavior and to other staff members by his direct boasts that his priority was to
force Mr. Gordon to quit.

117. In what proved to be futile effort to maintain his position, Mr. Gordon filed a
formal complaint with Mr. Hoffman on February 27, 2008, in which he complained about the
retaliatory treatment to which he was being subjected. Ms. Power, the Acting Director of Human
Resources, approached Mr. Gordon to address his complaint. He informed her that he could not
continue in his position at AGNA when he had no responsibilities and was subjected to such
hostility by Mr. Medley. He also informed her that AGNA was not performing its duties under
the contract, and given their continuous disregard for his advice and input — and management’s
obvious alignment with Mr. Du Plessis, who persisted in his noncompliance with the contract —
he believed that he no longer had a future at AGNA. Ms. Power told Mr. Gordon that she would
talk to Mr. Hoffman about his concerns.

118.  Subsequently, Mr. Hoffman met with Mr. Gordon to discuss his complaint. Mr.
Gordon reiterated that he could not work under the hostile conditions and for a company that
continued to engage in unlawful practices. He further indicated that, given the removal of his
duties and responsibilities and his exclusion from meetings, he felt that he had no choice but to
resign. Mr. Hoffman did not dispute Mr. Gordon’s conclusion that AGNA had indicated by its
actions a desire to get rid of him, nor did he try to address Mr. Gordon’s concemns in the interest

of encouraging him to remain with the company. Rather, Mr. Hoffman instructed Mr. Gordon to

46



submit a formal and favorable letter of resignation to allow AGNA to save face with DoS, in
exchange for which he would provide Mr. Gordon with a letter of reference.

119. Mr. Gordon was well aware of actions AGNA took to disparage and blackball
Messrs. Sauer, Martino and Gorman following their terminations. Accordingly, he acceded to
this demand and submitted the requested letter because he feared that he too would be
blackballed in the industry if he did not do so. Additionally, Mr. Gordon had recently married a
U.S. citizen and was concerned that if he did not accede to Mr. Hoffman’s demand, AGNA
might try to impede his application for his U.S. legal permanent residence. Left with no options,
Mr. Gordon was forced into an involuntary resignation on February 29, 2008.

120.  During the week immediately preceding Mr. Gordon’s involuntary resignation,
Mr. Gordon met with DoS Contracting Officer Rogers, who recently had been transferred from
the Kabul Embassy Contract. Mr. Gordon told Rogers of his impending termination. Mr.
Gordon also showed Mr. Rogers his February 22, 2008, email to AGNA management described
in paragraph 114 above, in which Mr. Gordon detailed the many legal and contractual violations
committed by AGNA under Mr. Du Plessis’ watch. Mr. Rogers made a photocopy of the
document.

With Mr. Gordon’s Removal, Defendants Were Able Resume Their
Misconduct and Conceal Their Unlawful Activities Without Opposition.

121.  On or around February 25, 2008, an AGNA recruiter, Towanda Lyon, was
contacted by a reporter from Afghanistan who asked her questions about whether AGNA’s
Program Manager and guard force personnel had frequented brothels and whether AGNA’s
Logistic Manager had ordered counterfeit goods from his wife’s company. Mr. Lyon, a retired
police officer, immediately reported the call to Mr. Schmitt, who appeared unconcerned. Ms.

Lyon pressed him about whether in fact such activities were taking place under the contract. Mr.
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Schmitt dismissed her concerns and stated that AGNA employees “were all adults” by way of
explanation that their patronage of brothels was understandable.

122.  On February 27, 2008, Mr. Schmitt provided false testimony to Congress about
AGNA'’s business practices during his appearance before the United States Senate Committee on
Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs. Mr. Schmitt, contrasting AGNA with the
troubled defense contractor Blackwater stated, “In the case of ArmorGroup, we have long-
established formal corporate programs to ensure that company employees act at all times within
the relevant international and local legal and humanitarian frameworks, including an employee
Code of Conduct, a stringent ethics policy, and an ethics review board.” Mr. Schmitt failed to
disclose the illegalities of U.S. and international law that plagued the Kabul contract and made
no mention of AGNA personnel’s patronage of brothels with trafficked women.

123. Mr. Schmitt further falsely testified, “We ensure our employees are trained and
certified on the tenets of international humanitarian law as well as the local laws of the countries
in which they operate.” He further gave examples of corporate ethics programs, such as
providing “protective services only using defensive measures (effective security management,
armored vehicles, body armor and low caliber firearms)” and “[f]ull adherence to and mandatory
induction and continuation training on U.S. and host nation local laws and international human
rights and humanitarian law,” fully knowing that AGNA had been woefully deficient in
providing armored vehicles, legally procured weapons, and other items necessary for effective
security management and with the knowledge that AGNA employees had violated local, U.S.,
and international laws with impunity.

124.  In replacing Mr. Gordon with Mr. Medley, a lesser qualified employee,

Defendants achieved what they had sought — retention of a Program Manager in country who
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would carry out directions provided to him by AGI, and installation of a Director of Kabul
Operations at AGNA Headquarters that would go along with Defendants’ efforts to mislead DoS
about its contract compliance problems. After Mr. Gordon was constructively discharged from
AGNA, Company officials routinely withheld information from the DoS Contracting Officer,
falsely blamed Mr. Gordon for any problems that occurred on the contract, and made serious
misrepresentations to DoS about its compliance with the Kabul Embassy contract.

125. Inor around early March 2008, for example, Defendants Hoffman and Medley
instructed Ms. Power to lie to DoS regarding Mr. Garcia’s continued employment with AGNA.
They instructed her to tell DoS that AGNA had terminated Mr. Garcia from the contract when, in
fact, he was still working under the Kabul contract and assisting AGNA in conducting
inventories of its ammunition for its reports to DoS.

126. In fact, after Defendant Medley assumed responsibility for the Kabul Embassy
contract, the ammunition inventory count revealed a shortfall of tens of thousands of rounds of
ammunition. Mr. Medley directed AGNA employee Misty Maldonado, who was responsible for
preparing the inventory report for DoS, to alter the report to remove any reference to the missing
ammunition or the disappearance of the inventory. Only when Deputy Director of Operations
Gregory Vrentas challenged Mr. Medley’s direction to provide false reports to DoS did Mr.
Medley back down.

127.  Upon information and belief, Defendant Medley knew that AGNA guards
continued to frequent brothels and took no action to stop this unlawful practice. Ina
conversation with AGNA Training Manager Hal Simpson in mid-2008 about the fact that former

Program Manager Nick Du Plessis and fellow guard members had frequented brothels, Medley
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remarked that at least AGNA knew what the men were up to when they visited prostitutes and if
management took away that outlet, the guards would turn to something else.

128.  Upon information and belief, after Mr. Gordon’s departure, AGNA again violated
its ITAR license. AGNA had a valid ITAR license which listed David Smallwood as the ITAR-
approved trainer. Mr. Du Plessis dismissed Mr. Smallwood; however, AGNA did not obtain a
modified ITAR license, as required by law. Consequently, it conducted training in Afghanistan
without a valid ITAR license.

129.  On March 10, 2008, based on information provided to DoS by Mr. Gordon while
still employed at AGNA, Ms. McMichael, DoS’s Contracting Officer’s Representative, sent DoS
Contracting Officer Mr. Rogers a memoranda entitled “Ongoing Concerns Regarding
ArmorGroup North America’s Performance” detailing AGNA’s failure to resolve issues
identified in the July 19, 2007, Cure Notice issued to AGNA. Among the issues raised by Ms.
McMichael were serious and ongoing problems staffing the Kabul Embassy contract, including a
90% turnover rate, AGNA'’s failure to fill key personnel positions, and AGNA'’s failure to
maintain an accurate personnel roster. Based on the information Mr. Gordon had provided to
her, Ms. McMichael also raised concerns about: AGNA’s failure to supply training weapons, as
required under the contract; AGNA’s failure to supply armored troop transport vehicles for
movement of guards to and from the Embassy compound; AGNA’s failure to remove the
logistics manager who had purchased counterfeit goods; and AGNA'’s failure to supply TCN
guards with the requisite English language proficiency. Finally, she raised concerns about
AGNA’s failure to comply with its contractual obligation to adhere to all applicable licensing
and registration requirements, both within the U.S. and Afghanistan. The deficiencies detailed in

Ms. McMichael’s letter were serious ones and were the very issues Mr. Gordon reported to DoS.

50



130. AGNA was cognizant of its serious breaches of its contractual obligations to DoS.
In March 2008, AGNA conducted an audit of the company’s compliance with 45 specific
requirements from the DoS contract and its own procedures. It concluded that of the areas
audited, 40% were found to be non-compliant to various degrees. Of those areas that were
determined to be non-compliant, AGNA’s audit deemed one-third to be in mission-critical areas,
including, most problematically, in the area of hiring and retention of a stable personnel force.
Upon information and belief, AGNA failed to provide a copy of its voluminous audit and report
to DoS or to disclose the serious problems identified by AGNA'’s auditors.

131.  On April 30, 2008, DoS Senior Contracting Officer Sharon James sent AGNA
President Jerry Hoffman a letter summarizing AGNA'’s ongoing deficiencies since the start of
the contract and four serious additional deficiencies that arose after the July 17, 2007, cure
notice. DoS informed AGNA that it was considering whether to exercise the contract’s first
option year given AGNA'’s continued weaknesses and deficiencies. Despite AGNA’s ongoing
problems, in July 2008, DoS decided to exercise the contract’s first year option because of
representations and promises made by incoming G4S/Wackenhut managers, leading DoS to
conclude that it was “reasonable” to expect that all performance problems would be corrected by
October 1, 2008.

Even After His Termination, Mr. Gordon Continued to Take the Security
Interests of the U.S. Embassy Seriously and Took Actions to Attempt to
Secure Wackenhut’s Compliance with its AGNA’s Contractual Obligations.

132. After Mr. Gordon’s departure from AGNA, he continued to hear reports about
violations of the Kabul contract even after G4S acquired AGI and AGNA that heightened his
concerns about the security of the U.S. Embassy and its personnel. As such, Mr. Gordon felt that

Wackenhut Services, Inc., the U.S. subsidiary of G4S that took over the contract, should be
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apprised of the problems that plagued the contract so as to remedy the situation and provide
adequate security to the U.S. Embassy. By email dated June 19, 2008, Mr. Gordon wrote to Sam
Brinkley, the Vice President of Defendant WS, regarding its acquisition of AGNA and his
ongoing concerns about AGNA'’s failure to comply with its contract with DoS. He reported, “I
was forced to resign from AGNA when I was marginalized by my superiors after refusing to go
along with the way that the USE Kabul Guard Force contract was being mismanaged and my
steadfast refusal to allow illegal and immoral activities to go on in my area of responsibility.”

He asked to meet with Mr. Brinkley to detail the issues he had encountered during his time as the
Director of Operations. Mr. Brinkley failed to respond to this email, and Mr. Gordon persisted
through contacts with Mark Carruthers, AGNA’s Human Resources official, to secure a meeting
with Mr. Brinkley.

133. On July 15, 2008, Mr. Gordon met with Mr. Brinkley and detailed the illegalities,
material contract violations, and deliberate misrepresentations to DoS that he witnessed during
his time as the Director of Operations of AGNA. Specifically, Mr. Gordon told Mr. Brinkley
about the brothels and the counterfeit equipment, both of which Mr. Du Plessis had been
involved in and sanctioned. He further informed Mr. Brinkley of allegations he had heard that a
member of AGNA’s management at Camp Sullivan had boasted openly about owning prostitutes
in Kabul. He also informed Mr. Brinkley that Mr. Schmitt and Defendant Hoffman had
deliberately withheld information about these issues from Congressman Waxman. Mr. Brinkley
said he had never heard of these issues and assured Mr. Gordon that WSI would bring the
contract into compliance and clean up all of the illegalities. Mr. Gordon told Mr. Brinkley that
Mr. Du Plessis was not qualified to be the Program Manager given that he lacked U.S.

citizenship and a top security clearance and had participated in activities involving human
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trafficking. Mr. Brinkley acknowledged that Mr. Du Plessis was not qualified to hold the
position and stated that he intended to remove Mr. Du Plessis. At the conclusion of their
meeting, Mr. Gordon told Mr. Brinkley that he was going to “keep an eye” on how WSI
managed the DoS contract and would only refrain from taking action against the Company if
WSI took the corrective action that Mr. Brinkley assured him it would take.

134.  Despite Mr. Brinkley’s assurances, WSI retained Mr. Du Plessis as the Program
Manager and continued to run the contract in a seriously deficient manner. By letter to Mark
Carruthers, Vice President of AGNA, dated August 22, 2008, DoS told AGNA that it questioned
its ability to provide for the security of the U.S. Embassy in the hostile environment of
Afghanistan. Joseph W. DeChirico, a DoS Contracting Officer, stated that “in view of the
ongoing relief guard deficiency, the Government has serious concerns regarding AGNA’s ability
to respond in the aftermath of a mass casualty incident or an extreme loss of personnel due to
mass resignation, hostile fire, or loss of manpower due to illness.” He further charged that
“AGNA has not effectively planned for such contingencies and does not have adequate staffing
levels and resources should the aforementioned incidents occur.”

135. By September 2008, AGNA'’s performance problems under the contract had
grown so severe that DoS issued a “show cause” letter. By letter dated September 21, 2008, to
AGNA Vice President Mark Carruthers, DoS Contracting Officer Sharon D. James placed
AGNA on notice that “the Government is considering terminating” its contact under the default
provision of the contract. She charged that AGNA’s “inability to permanently correct personnel
staffing shortages has negatively impacted the security posture of the Local Guard Program for
the U.S. Mission to Kabul” and has “also affected mission planning and capabilities for

contingencies which may place both personnel and property at an unacceptable level of risk...”
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She further stated that “[t]he staffing situation has further deteriorated to such a level that . ..
gravely endangers performance of guard services in a high-threat environment such as
Afghanistan.” Mr. Brinkley was copied on the letter.

136.  Despite repeated promises by WSI that the problems identified by DoS had been
corrected, on November 13, 2008, DoS put WSI on notice that it had serious concerns about
AGNA’s policy of working guards for longer than the 12-hour limit required by the contract.
Reluctantly, DoS acceded to WSI’s request to permit AGNA guards to work in excess of this
limit because AGNA could not provide enough guards without using overtime.

137.  Despite the seriousness of the issues Mr. Gordon raised with Mr. Brinkley in
2008, and the severity of the alarm sounded by DoS, WSI failed to take the requisite corrective
action, and indeed continued to employ Mr. Du Plessis as Program Manager through October
2008, when he resigned of his own accord.

138.  Despite a stellar career, significant experience, and solid references, Mr. Gordon
encountered significant difficulties in locating another comparable position — a circumstance he
encountered for the first time during his career as a defense contractor. Concerned that AGNA
and its agents had actively blocked Mr. Gordon’s employment opportunities and have sullied his
name in the industry, Mr. Gordon, through counsel, put Defendants on notice of his intention to
bring suit against them for unlawful termination. In response, Defendants, including WSI’s
agent Mr. Brinkley, insisted — falsely — that all problems DoS and Mr. Gordon had identified
with WSI’s management of the Kabul contract were now fixed and that WSI was running a tight
ship. These statements were false and Defendants knew them to be false. Throughout the fall of
2008 and winter of 2009, DoS repeatedly informed AGNA that it had “grave concerns” relating

to AGNA'’s continuing failure to provide sufficient guards. WSI sought and received numerous

54



extensions to come into compliance with the contract’s requirements relating to the numbers and
qualifications of the guard force. By letter to DoS dated January 24, 2009, AGNA represented to
DosS that it had come into full compliance with its staffing requirements. This statement was
proven to be false soon after it was made.

139. By letter dated March 30, 2009, DoS informed AGNA that it had “grave
concerns” relating to AGNA’s continuing failure to provide sufficient relief guards. It stated that
it had conducted spot inspections of WSI’s guard force operations earlier in March 2009 and had
observed that at least 18 guards were absent from their posts at the embassy, a situation WSI
attempted to explain as due to “supervisory personnel negligence” rather than manpower
shortages under the contract.

140. By letter dated April 1, 2009, DoS denied AGNA’s request for a waiver to meet
contractual language proficiency obligations, the third request of its kind. DoS stated: “[W]e are
quite dismayed to learn that after nearly two years of contract performance, AGNA still has
language deficiencies among [its] guard force.... AGNA took a huge risk in placing these
individuals in positions for which they did not meet the full qualifications.” Many key aspects of
the contract that Mr. Gordon identified and brought to the attention of DoS remain deficient
despite his conscientious efforts, both while employed at AGNA and following his termination
through his contacts with WSI, to ensure that corrective action be taken.

141. Because of his ongoing concerns that AGNA and its new owner Wackenhut had
failed to take appropriate action under the contract, that DoS remained lax and ineffective in its
oversight of the U.S. Embassy Kabul contract, and that conditions existed which endangered the
safety of the U.S. Embassy, Mr. Gordon took his concerns to Senator Claire McCaskill,

Chairman of the Subcommittee on Contracting Oversight. The Subcommittee held oversight
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hearings on June 10, 2009. Mr. Brinkley provided false testimony to the Committee about
AGNA'’s full compliance with contractual requirements, insisting that the contract was fully
staffed.

COUNTI: Violation of False Claims Act, Employee Protection Provision,
31 U.S.C. § 3730(h), Against Defendants AGI, AGNA and WSI

142.  Plaintiff repeats and incorporates herein by reference paragraphs 1 through 141
above.

143. Mr. Gordon was employed by Defendant AGNA on the Kabul Embassy contract
from June 2007 through February 2008 as the Director of Operations. He was responsible for
overseeing compliance with the DoS contract and correction of any AGNA deficiencies under
the contract. Mr. Gordon was also assigned to oversee AGNA’s performance on the NSA
Bahrain contract, although Defendants refused to provide him with any meaningful control or
responsibility. During the course of his employment, Mr. Gordon investigated numerous
instances where Defendants fraudulently induced DoS to release funds under the Kabul Embassy
contract, misrepresented AGNA’s compliance under the contract, engaged in illegal activities in
violation of the contract, made assurances regarding personnel actions that AGNA never
fulfilled, and made numerous other misrepresentations to DoS. Mr. Gordon made numerous
reports to AGNA, AGI, and DoS officials regarding Defendants’ fraud against the United States
and the submission of false claims to the United States and sought to stop Defendants’ violations
of the False Claims Act. Mr. Gordon also investigated, reported and sought to stop Defendants’
fraudulent conduct and false claims to DoD on the NSA Bahrain contract.

144. Defendants were aware that Plaintiff had investigated its unlawful conduct and
disclosed to DoS fraudulent representations made by the Defendants to DoS regarding their |

compliance with the Kabul Embassy contract in addition to illegalities committed under the
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contract, and further believed that Plaintiff had clandestinely arranged to meet with DoS to
expose all of AGNA’s misrepresentations and illegalities. Defendants were also aware of
Plaintiff’s efforts to stop violations of the False Claims Act.

145. Based on Mr. Gordon’s actual and perceived disclosures to DoS, in addition to his
internal investigations, complaints and efforts to stop violations of the False Claims Act,
Defendants stripped Mr. Gordon of his duties, replaced him with Cornelius Medley, excluded
him from meetings, and created a hostile environment in which his subordinates and colleagues
were pitted against him. Defendants’ actions made the working conditions such that a
reasonable employee would have no choice but to resign, and they forced Mr. Gordon into an
involuntary resignation.

146. Defendants’ action in constructively discharging Mr. Gordon violated 31 U.S.C. §
3730(h), which prohibits retaliation by employers against employees who investigate and/or
report false claims and statements within the meaning of 31 U.S.C. § 3729 et seq. 31 U.S.C. §
3729 holds liable any person who, inter alia, “knowingly presents ... a false or fraudulent claim
for payment” and/or “knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false . . . statement
to get a false or fraudulent claim paid or approved by the Government.” 31 U.S.C. §
3729(a)(1)&(2). Mr. Gordon’s actions in investigating and reporting Defendants’ fraud in
obtaining payment from DoS and DoD could reasonably have led to a viable False Claims Act
suit pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3729, and they were lawful actions taken in furtherance of other
efforts to stop violations of the False Claims Act.

147. Defendants knew of Mr. Gordon’s protected activity, as he reported his
complaints directly to them and initiated internal investigations. They were also aware of the

reports he made to DoS, and they accused him of meeting with DoS to report ongoing concerns.
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148.  As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing, Mr. Gordon has lost the benefits
and privileges of employment, and has suffered additional economic and non-economic
damages, including severe emotional anguish and irreparable, continuing to harm his career. Mr.
Gordon is entitled to all relief necessary to make him whole.

COUNTII Tortious Interference With Contractual Relations against Defendants
Hoffman and Medley

149.  Plaintiff repeats and incorporates herein by reference paragraphs 1 through 148
above.

150.  Mr. Gordon had a valid contractual relationship with Defendant AGNA as an at-
will employee.

151.  Defendants Hoffman and Medley knew of Mr. Gordon’s contractual relationship
with AGNA.

152. Defendants Hoffman and Medley each intentionally interfered with Mr. Gordon’s
contractual relationship with AGNA with the objective of bringing about his termination from
employment because of Mr. Gordon’s insistence on complying with the Kabul Embassy and
NSA Bahrain contracts, his refusal to provide false information to the U.S., and his insistence on
reporting and rectifying illegal behavior in violation of the contracts and both U.S. and
international law. The actions of Defendants Hoffman and Medley, which were intended to
bring about Mr. Gordon’s termination, violated 18 U.S.C. § 1513(e), which prohibits any person
from knowingly retaliating against a whistleblower who has provided to a federal law
enforcement officer any truthful information relating to the commission or possible commission
of any federal offense.

153. In acting to bring about termination of Mr. Gordon’s employment with AGNA,

Defendants Hoffinan and Medley acted out of malice and as a direct result of Mr. Gordon’s
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objections to, reports about, and refusals to engage in unlawful activities. In his actions aimed to
bring about the termination of Mr. Gordon’s employment, Defendant Hoffman acted for his own
benefit, to the detriment of the Company, and outside of the scope of his authority, to avoid
possible liability for fraud in light of his representations to DoS about the removal of Messrs.
Garcia and Du Plessis from the contract and other compliance matters. In his actions aimed to
bring about the termination of Mr. Gordon’s employment, Defendant Medley acted for his own
benefit, to the detriment of the Company, and outside of the scope of his authority, to assume
Mr. Gordon’s responsibilities, position, and ultimate authority over management of the Kabul
Embassy and NSA Bahrain contracts.

154. In tortiously interfering with Plaintiff’s contract with AGNA, Defendants acted
with malice or with reckless disregard for Plaintiff’s rights.

155. As adirect and proximate result of the foregoing, Mr. Gordon has lost the benefits
and privileges of employment, and has suffered additional economic and non-economic
damages, including severe emotional anguish and irreparable, continuing harm to his career. Mr.
Gordon is entitled to all relief necessary to make him whole.

Count III Wrongful Discharge in Violation of Public Policy Against Defendants
AGNA, AGI, Hoffman and Medley

156. Plaintiff repeats and incorporates herein by reference paragraphs 1 through 155

above.

157. In constructively terminating Mr. Gordon from employment with AGNA,
Defendants violated the public policy of Va. Code § 18.2-178, which makes it a felony for any
person to “obtain, by any false pretense or token, from any person, with intent to defraud, money

. .. or other property that may be the subject of larceny . . .”
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158. Defendants were aware that Mr. Gordon refused to provide false information to
the United States concerning its compliance with AGNA'’s contract with DoS, and that his
refusal to do so would lead the United States to withhold payments to AGNA under the contract.

159. Defendants terminated Mr. Gordon in part because he refused to provide false
information to the United States.

160. Defendants’ termination of Mr. Gordon violates the public policy mandate of Va.
Code § 18.2-178 in that the discharge interfered with Mr. Gordon’s legal duty under Virginia
Code §§ 18.2- 178 not to engage in the criminal offense of obtaining money by false pretenses.

161. In wrongfully discharging Plaintiff in violation of public policy, Defendants acted
with malice or with reckless disregard for Plaintiff’s rights.

162.  As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing, Mr. Gordon has lost the benefits
and privileges of employment, and has suffered additional economic and non-economic
damages, including severe emotional anguish and irreparable, continuing harm to his career. Mr.
Gordon is entitled to all relief necessary to make him whole.

COUNT 1V Common-Law Conspiracy Against All Defendants

163. Plaintiff repeats and incorporates herein by reference paragraphs 1 through 162
above.

164. Defendants agreed and conspired with one another to tortiously interfere with Mr.
Gordon’s contractual relationship with AGNA by causing his constructive termination and in
doing so acted in violation of the public policy mandate of Va. Code § 18.2-178 because of Mr.
Gordon’s insistence on complying with the Kabul Embassy and NSA Bahrain contracts, his
refusal to provide false information to the U.S., and his insistence on reporting and rectifying

illegal behavior in violation of the contracts and both U.S. and international law.
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165. Defendants AGNA and AGI conspired with one another and with others to
terminate Mr. Gordon’s employment in order to silence him, halt his reporting of contract
deficiencies to DoS, impede his ability to investigate potential claims under the False Claims
Act, and to put an end to his ability to rectify the numerous illegalities in which AGNA was
engaging. Defendants did so for the purpose of fraudulently maintaining the Kabul Embassy and
NSA Babhrain contracts, despite numerous violations, and for the purpose of skirting their
requirements under the contracts in order to increase profitability and better position the
company for sale to G4S.

166. Defendants Hoffman, Schmitt, and Medley conspired to terminate Mr. Gordon’s
employment out of malice and as a direct result of Mr. Gordon’s objections to, reports about, and
refusals to engage, in unlawful activities. Defendant Hoffman conspired with Defendants to
terminate Mr. Gordon’s employment for his own benefit, to the detriment of the Company, and
outside of the scope of his authority, to avoid possible liability for fraud in light of his
representations to DoS about the removal of Messrs. Garcia and Du Plessis from the contract and
other compliance matters. Defendant Medley conspired with Defendants to terminate Mr.
Gordon’s employment for his own benefit, to the detriment of the Company, and outside of the
scope of his authority, to assume Mr. Gordon’s responsibilities, position, and ultimate authority
over management of the Kabul Embassy and NSA Bahrain contracts.

167.  All Defendants, including WSI, conspired with one another, both before and after
Plaintiff’s termination, to withhold information from Congress and to make false statements to
Congress, DoS and to the public about AGNA’s alleged compliance with the DoS contract.

168. In subjecting Plaintiff to a common-law conspiracy, Defendants acted with malice

or with reckless disregard for Plaintiff’s rights.
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169. Through the conspiracies described above and through overt acts they committed
in furtherance of those conspiracies, Defendants directly and proximately caused Plaintiff to
suffer loss of income and other economic benefits, job search costs and the loss of future
employment opportunities, diminished professional status, diminished job opportunities, mental
anguish, and emotional distress.

Prayer for Relief

1. Enter a judgment in Plaintiff’s favor and against Defendants AGNA, AGI, and
WSI, under the Employee Protection Provision of the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3730(h), in
an amount equal to double his amount of backpay, plus frontpay, interest, costs, and attorneys’
fees, and special damages for emotional distress in an amount to be determined at trial;

2. Enter a judgment in Plaintiff’s favor and against Defendants Hoffman and Medley
for tortious interference with contract;

3. Enter a judgment in Plaintiff’s favor and against all Defendants for conspiracy to
commit unlawful acts of wrongful discharge, in perpetration of a common scheme;

4. Enter a judgment in Plaintiff’s favor and against all Defendants for wrongful

discharge in violation of public policy;

5. An award to Plaintiff of compensatory damages in an amount to be proven at trial;
6. An award to Plaintiff of punitive damages in an amount to be proven at trial
7. An award of all reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and

8. All other relief the Court deems jusf and proper.
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/ | Respectfully submitted,

Janet Goldstein Bar No. 444861 Debra S. Kafz Bar Ko. 411861
Vogel, Slade & Goldstein, LLP Katz, Marshall & Banks LLP
5225 Wisconsin Ave., N.W., Suite 502 1718 Connecticut Ave. NW
Washington, D.C. 20015 Washington, D.C. 20009
(202) 537-5900 (202) 299-1140
Robert Vogel Bar No. 414500 Lisa J. Banks Bar No. 470948
Vogel, Slade & Goldstein, LLP Katz, Marshall & Banks LLP
5225 Wisconsin Ave., N.W., Suite 502 1718 Connecticut Ave. NW
Washington, D.C. 20015 Washington, D.C. 20009
(202) 537-5900 (202) 299-1140

Attorneys for Plaintiff James Gordon

DATED: September 9, 2009
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

JAMES GORDON

8004 Langbrook Road

Springfield, Virginia 22152,
Plaintiff,

V.

ARMORGROUP NORTH AMERICA, INC.

1420 Spring Hill Road
McLean, Virginia 22102,

Serve:

CORPORATION SERVICE COMPANY
11 S 12th Street
Richmond, Virginia 23218,

and

ARMORGROUP INT’L, PLC
Egginton House

25 — 28 Buckingham Gate
London, United Kingdom
SWIE 6LD,

Serve:

CORPORATION SERVICE COMPANY
2711 Centerville Road

Suite 400

Wilmington, Delaware 19808

WACKENHUT SERVICES, INC.
7121 Fairway Drive, Suite 301
Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33418

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Civil Action No.



Serve:

PRENTICE-HALL CORPORATION
SYSTEM, INC.

1090 VERMONT AVENUE, N.W.
Washington, DC 20005

and

JERRY HOFFMAN

8601 Trabue Road
Richmond, Virginia 23235
and

CORNELIUS MEDLEY
1420 Spring Hill Road
McLean, Virginia 22102,

Defendants.

e = N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N’ N N N N’ N

JURY DEMAND

Plaintiff demands a jury trial on all claims so triable.

L /T

Debra S. Katz BarNo. 411861
Lisa J. Banks Bar No. 470948

Katz, Marshall & Banks, LLP

1718 Connecticut Ave., N.W., Sixth Floor
Washington, DC 20009

(202) 299-1140 (telephone)

(202) 299-1148 (facsimile)




Dated: September 9, 2009
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Janef Goldstein Bar No. 444861
Robert Vogel Bar No. 414500

Vogel, Slade & Goldstein, LLP

5225 Wisconsin Ave., N.-W., Suite 502
Washington, D.C. 20015

(202) 537-5900
Attorneys for Plaintiff




